IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 84345 and Case No. 84640

Electronically Filed Oct 17 2022 02:13 PM Elizabeth A. Brown tate Perk of Stopreme Court

CITY OF LAS VEGAS, a political subdivision of the State of Supreme Court

Appellant

v.

180 LAND CO, LLC, a Nevada limited-liability company, FORE STARS LTD., a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondents

District Court Case No.: A-17-758528-J Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada

APPELLANT CITY OF LAS VEGAS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The City appeals the following orders:

- November 18, 2021 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Just Compensation, notice of entry of which was served electronically on November 24, 2021, and all decisions, rulings and interlocutory orders made appealable by the foregoing (collectively, "the Judgment"). 110(19852-19874);
- February 9, 2022 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Denying the City's Motion for Immediate Stay of Judgment; [*sic*] and Granting Plaintiff Landowners' Countermotion to Order the City to Pay the Just Compensation, notice of entry of which was served electronically on February 10, 2022. 126(22984-22995);
- February 16, 2022 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part the City of Las Vegas' Motion to Retax Memorandum of Costs, notice of entry of which was served electronically on February 17, 2022. 126(23037-23048);
- February 16, 2022 Order Granting Plaintiffs Landowners' Motion for Reimbursement of Property Taxes, notice of entry of which was served electronically on February 17, 2022. 126(23026-23036);

- February 18, 2022 Order Granting Plaintiff Landowners' Motion for Attorney Fees In Part and Denying In Part, notice of entry of which was served electronically on February 22, 2022. 126(23049-23062);
- February 25, 2022 Order Denying City of Las Vegas' Motion to Amend Judgment (Rules 59(e) and 60(b)) and Stay of Execution ("Motion to Amend"), notice of entry of which was served electronically on February 28, 2022. 126(23063-23073); and
- April 1, 2022 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Pre-Judgment Interest, notice of entry of which was served electronically on April 1, 2022. 127(23167-23182).

The Judgment is a "final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." NRAP 3A(b)(1). Orders 2-7 above are "special order[s] entered after final judgment...." NRAP 3A(b)(8).

The City filed its Motion to Amend on December 21, 2021, which tolled the time to appeal. NRAP 4(a)(4); 117(21349-21355). The City timely filed its Notice of Appeal of Orders 1-6 on March 2, 2022, which was within 30 days after service of the notice of entry of the earliest appealable Order (February 10, 2022). 127(23075).

The City timely filed its Notice of Appeal of the Prejudgment Interest Order on April 29, 2022, which was within 30 days after the date of service of the April 1, 2022 written notice of entry of order and within 14 days of the Developer's April 25, 2022 notice of appeal. NRAP 4(a)(1)-(2). 131(26953).

In light of the appealability of the foregoing orders, the "Final Judgment in Inverse Condemnation" entered on April 18, 2022 was superfluous. 127(23183-23192).

ROUTING STATEMENT

The principal issues raised in these consolidated appeals affect government entities throughout Nevada and are of great statewide public importance. The district court's decision effectively deemed unconstitutional local land use authorities' broad discretionary powers to preserve open space, require recreational amenities, and deny proposed redevelopment applications that are prohibited by a General Plan. The takings found by the district court contravene long-standing Nevada precedent and the comprehensive statutory framework in NRS Chapter 278 and expose local governments to sizeable inverse condemnation judgments, such as occurred here, simply for declining to convert designated open space into housing. Because these are important issues of law that affect land use decisionmakers throughout the State, the matter should be retained by the Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(12).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Did the district court err in holding the City liable for categorical and *Penn Central* takings of the 35-Acre Segment of the Badlands golf course and ordering the City to pay \$34,135,000 as just compensation where:
 - a. The district court lacked jurisdiction because the Developer filed only one set of applications to redevelop the 35-Acre Segment, thereby failing to ripen its claims;
 - b. The district court improperly validated the Developer's segmentation tactic when the 1,549-acre Peccole Ranch Master Plan ("PRMP") area, or at a minimum, the 250-acre Badlands, should have been deemed the whole parcel, and the City had approved substantial development in both, thereby increasing the property's value to the Developer and its predecessor;
 - c. Even if the 35-Acre Segment were deemed the whole parcel, the City had discretion to disapprove the Developer's application for a housing development because the General Plan had, since 1992, designated the Badlands as Parks, Recreation and Open Space ("PR-OS"), which prohibits housing;

- d. R-PD7 zoning does not confer a constitutionally protected property right to build any housing development within the zoning density and is subject to the General Plan's restrictions and the Council's discretion to approve, disapprove, or conditionally approve a project;
- e. NRS 278.150, NRS 278.250, and this Court's precedents confirm that:
 (i) cities have broad discretion to regulate land use to promote and protect the public interest; (ii) cities must adopt General Plans that govern the future uses of property; and (iii) General Plan designations are superior to other land use regulations, including zoning;
- f. The R-PD7 zoning was consistent with the PR-OS General Plan designation because it not only permitted, but encouraged, the developer of the PRMP to set aside open space to complement the residential development;
- g. The City's discretion to deny or condition the approval of a land use application exists whether the applicant files a petition for judicial review under NRS Chapter 278 or sues for a regulatory taking;
- h. Statements and actions of individual City Council members and staff
 do not constitute regulations that bind the City;

- i. The district court committed reversible error by barring the City from presenting evidence and/or making reference at the valuation trial to:
 (i) the \$4,500,000 purchase price the Developer paid for the entire 250-Acre Badlands and the \$630,000 purchase price of the 35-Acre Segment; (ii) the PR-OS designation; and (iii) the PRMP; and
- j. The appraisal report on which the district court relied to value the 35-Acre Segment in its "before" condition at \$34,135,000 was premised on an erroneous understanding of law that the Developer could build houses in open space, notwithstanding the PR-OS designation, and an incorrect date for the alleged taking.
- Did the district court err in finding that the City effected a physical taking of the 35-Acre Segment when:
 - a. There was no evidence that the City invaded the property, physically dispossessed the Developer, authorized public use, or restricted the Developer's right to exclude strangers;
 - b. The City's denial of the Developer's applications for additional access and fencing simply instructed the Developer to file a different type of application and did not exact an easement from the Developer in favor of the public; and

- c. Bill Nos. 2018-5 and 2018-24 did not apply to the Developer or the 35-Acre Segment, and even if applicable, did not compel the Developer to allow the public to invade and occupy the 35-Acre Segment, and there was no evidence that the public trespassed on the Badlands as a result of those ordinances.
- 3. Did the district court err in finding the City liable for a non-regulatory taking where all of the City actions alleged by the Developer were regulatory and none interfered with the property's existing uses?
- 4. Did the district court err in denying the City's Motion to Amend to correct the Judgment's requirement that the City pay damages to the Developer without an associated requirement that the Developer convey its fee simple interest to the City?
- 5. Did the district court err in awarding the Developer's post-judgment motions where:
 - a. Attorneys' fees and costs and reimbursement of property taxes in the amount of \$4,707,002.04 and prejudgment interest in the amount of \$10,258,953.30 derived from the legally unsupportable Judgment and were unreasonable;

- b. The Judgment conferred windfall profits on the Developer and thus additional amounts were not required to make the Developer "whole"; and
- c. The Developer voluntarily agreed to have the 35-Acre Segment's assessment changed from open space to residential, thereby inviting an increase in property taxes.

INTRODUCTION

This is a regulatory takings case arising from efforts by Plaintiffs-Respondents-Cross Appellants 180 Land Company, LLC and Fore Stars Ltd. (collectively, "the Developer") to convert the 250-acre Badlands golf course from open space to houses.¹ The Badlands is part of the 1,539-acre PRMP, which was developed by the Developer's predecessor ("Peccole"). Peccole set aside the Badlands as open space to compliment residential, office, retail, hotel, and casino development in the PRMP. In approving the casino as a destination resort, the Las Vegas City Council ("Council") required Peccole to set aside the Badlands as a recreation amenity.

¹ To avoid repetition, all references to the Joint Appendix for the facts stated in the Introduction are included in the Statement of Facts. References are to the volume number followed by the page number(s) in parentheses of documents in the Amended Joint Appendix, unless the referenced volume was not amended, in which case the reference is to the originally filed Joint Appendix.

In furtherance of Peccole's approved PRMP, starting in 1992, the Council designated the Badlands as PR-OS in the General Plan. The Council repeatedly reaffirmed the PR-OS designation by legislative act, most recently in 2018. Although housing is prohibited in areas designated PR-OS, and the Developer purchased the Badlands with full knowledge of the PR-OS designation, it nevertheless gambled that the Council would amend the General Plan to allow the Developer to convert the Badlands from open space into housing.

When the Developer acquired the Badlands in 2015, its PR-OS designation had existed in the General Plan for 23 years, the golf course had been operating for over two decades, and the remaining 84% of the PRMP had been built out with a retail shopping center, a hotel, a casino, and thousands of homes (many by the Developer), with the Badlands serving as an open space "focal point," drainage, and recreational amenity for the PRMP. In 2016, the Developer voluntarily closed the golf course, segmented the Badlands into four redevelopment areas, and proceeded to file applications to convert open space into houses, which required a General Plan amendment.

The four areas included: (1) a 34.07-acre segment ("the 35-Acre Segment"), which is at issue in this case; (2) a 17.49-acre segment ("the 17-Acre Segment"), for which the City approved 435 luxury condominiums ("the 435-Unit Project"); (3) a

133-acre segment ("the 133-Acre Segment"), for which the City invited the Developer to resubmit applications that were initially stricken on technical grounds, and which the Developer has declined to do; and (4) the remaining 65-acre segment ("the 65-Acre Segment"), for which the Developer has filed no applications, notwithstanding the City's invitation.

For its proposed project on the 35-Acre Segment (the subject of this appeal), the Developer presented one proposed project that sought: a General Plan Amendment to change the PR-OS designation to allow housing; a Site Development Review for 61 lots; a Waiver of street width; and a Tentative Map Application (collectively, the "35-Acre Application"). On June 21, 2017, the Council rejected the project as proposed, and the Developer sued, filing a petition for judicial review ("PJR") and claims for a categorical, *Penn Central*, "regulatory per se" (*i.e.*, physical), non-regulatory, and temporary takings. The Developer also brought separate takings actions for each of the other three Badlands segments, notwithstanding the City's approval of the 435-Unit Project on the 17-Acre Segment and the Developer's failure to allow the City to consider the 133-Acre Application on its merits and failure to submit any application for the 65-Acre Segment.² The

² Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. Cases A-18-773268-C, A-18-775804-J, and A-18-780184-C.

Developer never filed a second application for a modified project on the 35-Acre Segment, thereby failing to ripen its categorical and *Penn Central* claims.

The district court denied the Developer's PJR (the "PJR Order"), correctly holding that (1) the PR-OS designation was valid and in effect when the Developer bought the Badlands and prohibited housing; (2) the Developer was aware of the designation when it acquired the property; and (3) the City had broad discretion to retain the PR-OS designation when the Developer applied to redevelop the 35-Acre Segment. In the PJR Order, the district court also rejected the Developer's contention that the 35-Acre Segment's zoning (R-PD7) granted the Developer a constitutionally protected property right to build the project proposed in the 35-Acre Application. These holdings were based squarely on unambiguous Nevada statutes and this Court's long-standing jurisprudence.

Inexplicably, however, when considering the Developer's taking claims, the district court completely changed course, holding that the PR-OS designation has no legal effect on the 35-Acre Segment, and the Developer has a constitutionally protected property right to build any development project it desires, free of any City discretionary approval, so long as the proposed use and density are permitted by the zoning ordinance. No authority supports these conclusions. To the contrary, the unwavering decisions of this Court provide that the General Plan controls the future

use of property, and zoning, which implements the General Plan, *does not* confer a right to build, or any rights at all. Rather, zoning *limits* the owner's use of property for the benefit of the community. In holding otherwise, the Judgment turns all land use authority on its head, essentially declaring Nevada's carefully constructed system of land use regulation unconstitutional.

The district court's sole explanation for this 180-degree pivot is that its findings of fact and conclusions of law in the PJR Order do not apply to a taking claim. There is no law or logic to support this distinction because there is no substantive law particular to NRS Chapter 278 petitions for judicial review. The facts determined in the PJR and the land use law applicable to those facts do not change simply because the Developer also sued for a taking. The City has the same discretion to disapprove a redevelopment application, no matter whether the Developer then challenges the City's action through a PJR or through inverse condemnation claims. The PR-OS designation alone required judgment in the City's favor on the regulatory takings claims.

The district court also ignored the parcel-as-a-whole doctrine, improperly disregarding the substantial development the Council approved in the PRMP or, at a minimum, the Badlands. Instead, contrary to all the evidence and law, the district court treated this case as one where the Developer bought an isolated 35-acre

property that had no physical or historical connection to either a 1,539-acre master planned development or a 250-acre open space area set aside as an amenity for the master planned development.

Even if the 35-Acre Segment could be deemed the parcel as a whole and the Council had made a final decision denying permission to redevelop it with housing, the Council was merely doing its job as directed by state law to preserve long-established open space for the community's benefit. The City has an obligation under NRS Chapter 278 to prepare a General Plan and to only approve projects that are consistent with that plan. It also had broad discretion to deny a General Plan amendment and maintain the land use status quo, which had been in place for decades at the request of the Developer's predecessor.

The Developer paid an \$18,000/acre bargain-basement purchase price for the Badlands, reflecting the buyer and seller's knowledge that the PR-OS designation prohibited residential and commercial development. According to the Developer's own evidence, the City's approval of the 435-Unit Project alone increased the value of the Badlands by nine times the purchase price. Through the City's development approvals, therefore, the Developer reaped an enormous profit.

Nevertheless, the district court awarded the Developer an additional \$34.1 million in inverse condemnation damages, which equates to 54 times the

Developer's purchase price of the 35-Acre Segment, an unjustifiable windfall. If that Judgment is sustained, the Developer's profit would be more than 1,100%, and the Developer still has 233 acres of the Badlands remaining with potential for redevelopment, recreation, and open space because the district court did not require the Developer to convey its fee simple interest to the City as a condition for receiving just compensation. Although the Judgment alone made the Developer "whole" 54 times over, the district court also awarded the Developer \$15 million in attorneys' fees, costs, property tax reimbursement and pre-judgment interest.

State law requires that the City adopt a General Plan that designates future uses of land and zoning ordinances to implement those designations, giving the City broad discretion to regulate land uses in the public interest. By finding that the City cannot apply its General Plan or zoning to limit the use of property without paying just compensation, the Judgment runs afoul of well-established law, interferes with the City's discretionary authority, and plunders the public treasury. The City therefore requests that the Court reverse the Judgment and all post-Judgment orders and instead enter judgment in the City's favor on all claims.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the Council's June 21, 2017 decision to deny the Developer's application to redevelop the 35-Acre Segment of the Badlands with 61

houses. 1(44). The Developer filed the PJR and inverse condemnation claims, which the district court bifurcated. 1(71-87). After briefing and oral argument, the district court entered the PJR Order, which denied the PJR and dismissed the inverse condemnation claims. 1(205-229).

The Developer filed two separate motions for reconsideration: one that challenged the PJR denial (called "motion for new trial") and one that challenged dismissal of the inverse condemnation claims. 2(295-441). The district court granted the latter and entered an Order Nunc Pro Tunc that removed only those lines of the PJR Order that dismissed the inverse condemnation claims (23:4-20 and 24:4-5) but left intact all other findings and conclusions. 4(807-808). In a separate order, the district court denied the "motion for new trial," finding no clear error in its PJR Order, as amended. 8(1551-1566). On December 20, 2018, the Developer appealed the PJR Order, which the Court dismissed for lack of jurisdiction (Case No. 77771).

As to the Developer's inverse condemnation claims, the district court entered an order that determined "the permitted uses by right of the 35 Acre Property are single-family and multi-family residential," notwithstanding the PR-OS designation, that the applicable zoning ordinance also permits open space, and that the property had been used as open space for nearly a quarter century. 18(3436); 58(10380). The district court then granted summary judgment in the Developer's favor for categorial, *Penn Central*, non-regulatory and physical takings. 109(19642-19691). Prior to trial on just compensation, the district court granted the Developer's motions in limine, excluding the City's evidence of the PR-OS designation, the PRMP, and the amount of money the Developer paid for the Badlands. 110(19826-19838).

The Developer's appraiser valued the 35-Acre Segment at \$34.1 million on the erroneous premises that before the City's denial of the 35-Acre Application, it could be developed for residential uses (which contravened the PR-OS designation) and that the 35-Acre Segment's zoning granted the Developer a constitutional right to build housing up to the numerical maximum of the zoning ordinance. 87(15355-15384). The district court nevertheless accepted \$34.1 million as the "before" value, concluded the "after" value was zero, and awarded the Developer \$34.1 million as just compensation. 110(19865-19868). However, the district court failed to require that if the City was compelled by a final judgment to pay just compensation for "taking" the 35-Acre Segment, the Developer must convey its fee simple title to the City. 110(19869). The City moved to amend the Judgment on that basis, which the district court denied. 117(21349-21354); 127(23159-23166).

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