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

65(11553-54).  Thus, the R-PD zoning of the 35-Acre Segment does not mandate 

that the City Council allow housing in designated open space.5    

 
5 According to the Developer, the City’s statement in its Opening Brief that PD 
zoning replaced R-PD zoning is incorrect because “these are two separate zoning 
districts.” AB 72, n. 30. The City’s brief made clear that PD and R-PD are separate 
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 LVMC 19.16.090(O) likewise does not grant the Developer a constitutional 

right to build any project that complies with zoning (AB 86, n. 38) but rather 

provides that the City’s approval of a rezoning application 

authorizes the applicant to proceed with the process to develop and/or 
use the property in accordance with the development and design 
standards and procedures of all City departments and in conformance 
with all requirements and provisions of the City of Las Vegas 
Municipal Code. 

 
LVMC 19.16.090(O) (emphasis added). In other words, the ordinance allows a 

property owner to apply for development consistent with the new zoning. It does not 

strip the City Council of its discretion to deny or condition a development 

application. See id. 

 The Developer also misrepresents the Planning Department’s “Zoning 

Verification Letter” as purportedly confirming that the Developer “has vested rights 

to develop up to 7.49 residential units per acre” in the Badlands. AB 16, citing 

47(8674(2)). To the contrary, the letter states that the Badlands was zoned R-PD7 

and explained the purpose of R-PD zoning, the density allowed in an R-PD7 zone, 

 
zoning districts subject to different sections of the LVMC and correctly stated that, 
in 2011, the City discontinued the R-PD zoning category and replaced it with the PD 
category but continued to recognize pre-existing R-PD designations. OB 22, citing 
58(10380). 
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and the uses allowed in an R-PD7 zone. Id. It did not state that the Developer had a 

right to build. 47(8674). 

C. The Developer Has No Right To Build Housing Because The 35-Acre 
Segment Is Designated PR-OS In The General Plan, Which Does Not 
Allow Housing 

 It is well-established that the General Plan designation not only imposes legal 

limits on the use of property, but if the zoning conflicts with the General Plan, the 

General Plan takes precedence. NRS 278.250(2) (“zoning regulations must be 

adopted in accordance with the master plan for land use”); Am. W. Dev., 111 Nev. at 

807, 898 P.2d at 112 (“municipal entities must adopt zoning regulations that are in 

substantial agreement with the master plan”); Nova Horizon, 105 Nev. at 98, 769 

P.2d at 724 (same); City of Reno v. Citizens for Cold Springs, 126 Nev. 263, 266, 

236 P.3d 10, 12 (2010) (same); LVMC 19.00.040 (“It is the intent of the City Council 

that all regulatory decisions made pursuant to this Title be consistent with the 

General Plan.”). The Developer’s brief fails to address these authorities. Because the 

PR-OS designation does not allow housing, even if the zoning were inconsistent (it 

was not – see §C.3 infra), it could not have granted the Developer a right to build 

housing. 

Nevertheless, without any support, and directly contradicting the PJR Order, 

the district court dispatched with the PR-OS designation in a single sentence: “[T]he 
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Court rejects the City’s defenses that there is a Peccole Ranch Master Plan that 

governs the 35 Acre Property and a City of Las Vegas Master Plan/land use 

designation of PR-OS that affects this Court’s property interest determination.” 

109(19652). The Developer devotes a substantial part of its Answering Brief 

attempting to backstop the district court’s disregard of the General Plan, variously 

contending that the PR-OS designation of the Badlands does not exist, is invalid, or 

is inapplicable. These arguments fail. 

1. This Court’s Prior Ruling That The City Properly Required The 
Developer To Obtain The City Council’s Approval Of A General 
Plan Amendment To Build The 435-Unit Project Confirms The 
Pertinence Of The PR-OS Designation 

Having already determined that the PR-OS designation controls 

redevelopment of the Badlands, the Court need not tread new ground here. In 

reversing Judge Crockett’s Order, this Court concluded that because the Badlands 

was designated PR-OS in the General Plan, the 17-Acre Segment could not be 

developed with housing unless the City changed that designation: “The governing 

ordinances require the City to make specific findings to approve a general plan 

amendment….” 62(11110), citing LVMC 19.16.030(I). The Developer fails to 

address this language, much less overcome it.  
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2. The PR-OS Designation And Open Space Set Aside In The PRMP 
Afforded The City Discretion To Deny A Housing Development  

The record also undercuts the Developer’s attempt to evade the well-

established history of the PRMP and PR-OS designation. AB 13-25. In 1989, the 

City approved a Gaming Enterprise District expressly conditioned on Peccole 

providing a recreational amenity in the PRMP. 57(10106-10116, 10122, 10127-

10129). To satisfy this condition, Peccole reserved the Badlands as a golf course. 

57(10086, 10088, 10115-10116). The City maintains its discretion to approve, 

modify or deny a request to lift the conditions of approval imposed on the 

Developer’s predecessor. Stratosphere Gaming, 120 Nev. at 527-28, 96 P.3d at 759-

60; Tighe, 108 Nev. at 443, 833 P.2d at 1137. 

In 1990, Peccole applied to amend the PRMP in connection with a rezoning 

application. 57(10131-10154). The revised PRMP highlighted an “extensive 253-

acre golf course and linear open space system winding throughout the community 

[that] provides a positive focal point while creating a mechanism to handle drainage 

flows.” 57(10138). As the district court correctly found in denying the PJR:  

[T]he Peccole Ranch Master Development Plan identified the property 
as being for open space and drainage, as sought and obtained by the 
Developer’s predecessor.  

The golf course was part of a comprehensive development scheme, and 
the entire Peccole Ranch master planned area was built out around the 
golf course.  
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1(222-223, 225). The City approved Peccole’s rezoning application under a 

resolution of intent subject to all conditions of approval for the revised PRMP. 

57(10176-10187). On April 1, 1992, in Ordinance 3636, the City Council designated 

the Badlands PR-OS in the City’s new 2000 General Plan. 58(10253).   

Notwithstanding this history, the Developer contends that the Badlands was 

never intended to be open space long term, misrepresenting that the portion of the 

PRMP encompassing the Badlands was designated MED (Medium Density 

Residential) in the City’s General Plan from 1981 through the present. AB 17-18, 

citing 22(4038-4041). However, in 1981, when the Developer claims the Badlands 

was designated “MED,” there was no “MED” designation in the City’s General Plan. 

72(12590). Indeed, throughout the 1980s, the City’s General Plan used only three 

residential land use designations: “suburban,” “urban,” and “rural.” 72(12671-

12672, 12704-12706). The letters “MED” on the Peccole Property Land Use Plan 

cited by the Developer (AB 17-18) referred to a density category and not a general 

plan designation. 22(4038, 4040). From 1985 to 1990, the Badlands was categorized 

in the General Plan as “L” for low density residential and “ML” for medium density 

residential. 73(12905). Regardless, in 1990, the City approved a master plan 

amendment designating an 18-hole golf course in the same general location as the 

Badlands Property as “P” for Parks/Recreation/Open Space. 74(13020, 13035).  
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Even had the General Plan designation of the Badlands portion of the PRMP 

been MED prior to 1992, Ordinance 3636 adopting the 2000 General Plan in 1992 

superseded any prior General Plan designation. 58(10219-10223, 100229-10253). 

Further, after 1992, the City adopted at least five ordinances reaffirming the PR-OS 

designation. 58(10200-10253, 10287-10301, 10302-10312, 10313-10329, 10330-

10345); 72(12591-12592); 78(13526-13752); 79(13763-13987).  Accordingly, since 

at least 1992, the Badlands was designated open space, not housing. 

Contrary to the Developer’s assertion (AB 82), the City does not contend that 

in approving the PRMP, it required the Badlands to remain open space in perpetuity. 

The City Council has discretion to lift the PR-OS designation if it finds that doing 

so would be in the community’s best interests and did so when approving the 435-

Unit Project. 64(11414-11419); see Nova Horizon, 105 Nev. at 96, 769 P.2d at 723. 

Nothing required it to do so for the 35-Acre Segment as well.  See Stratosphere 

Gaming, 120 Nev. at 527, 96 P.3d at 759-60. 

The Developer’s challenge to the PRMP and the PR-OS designation because 

they were not recorded as a deed restriction is irrelevant because, as laws, land use 

regulations need not be recorded against private property to be legally binding. See, 

e.g., LVMC 19.12.040(D) (restrictions of conditional use permit enforceable 

“against the person or entity that owns the property”). The Legislature has specified 
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certain land use documents that must be recorded, and master plans are not one of 

them. See NRS 278.150; cf. NRS 278.0207 (development agreements); NRS 

278.374 (final maps); NRS 278.468 (parcel maps). In contrast, restrictive covenants 

are the result of private contracts, not government regulation of land use, and must 

be recorded. See Horizons at Seven Hills v. Ikon Holdings, 132 Nev. 362, 371, 373 

P.3d 66, 73 (2016).  

3. The Zoning And General Plan Designation Are Not In Conflict, 
But Even If They Were, The General Plan Would Control 

 The City’s adherence to the General Plan does not “render[] its zoning code 

meaningless.” AB 71. Zoning and the General Plan both limit an owner’s use of 

land. The General Plan designates the permissible uses of land, and the zoning 

ordinance implements that directive, similar to a constitution whose more general 

policies are implemented by statutes. 58(10224, 10229). In the case of an 

inconsistency between zoning and the General Plan, the General Plan controls. NRS 

278.250(2); Nova Horizon, 105 Nev. at 96, 769 P.2d at 723. 

Here, the 35-Acre Segment’s zoning is consistent with the General Plan. In 

1990, the City rezoned 614 acres of the 1,539-acre PRMP as R-PD7. 57(10131-

10185). R-PD zoning allows a developer to comprehensively plan a new residential 

community by clustering the housing on one portion of the property and placing 
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open space on other portions as an amenity for the residential use. LVMC 

19.10.050A.  

The R-PD7 zoning and PR-OS General Plan designation have long coexisted. 

Prior to rezoning the 614-acre area as R-PD7, Peccole had set aside 211 acres of that 

area as open space for the future residents and business owners of the PRMP. 

57(10152, 10156-10158, 10160-10161, 10164-10165). In Ordinance 3636 passed in 

1992, the City Council designated the housing portions of the R-PD zone medium-

density residential and the Badlands portion PR-OS in the General Plan. 58(10221-

10223). Accordingly, the Developer’s claim that Ordinance 3636 designating the 

Badlands PR-OS in 1992 must be invalid because it conflicted with the pre-existing 

provisional R-PD7 zoning of the Badlands (AB 19-20, 80-81) is incorrect. 

58(10221-10223). Likewise, in 2001, when the City made the R-PD7 zoning of a 

614-acre area of the PRMP permanent in Ordinance 5353, the zoning and the 

General Plan designation of the Badlands were consistent. 58(10358-10377). 

Despite the absence of a conflict between the zoning and General Plan 

designation of the 35-Acre Segment, the Developer argues that NRS 278.349(3)(e) 

and Sisolak, Bustos, and Alper provide that “zoning takes precedence over any land 

use designation.” AB 73, 74-75, n. 31. Sisolak, Bustos, and Alper do not hold that 

zoning confers development rights on property owners that can be elevated over the 
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General Plan. See supra §B.2. Moreover, NRS 278.349(3)(e) provides that in 

considering a tentative subdivision map for approval, the agency shall consider 

“[c]onformity with the zoning ordinances and master plan, except that if any existing 

zoning ordinance is inconsistent with the master plan, the zoning ordinance takes 

precedence.” Because the R-PD7 zoning of the Badlands is consistent with the 

General Plan designations, NRS 278.349(3)(e) is irrelevant.  

Even if the zoning and General Plan designation were inconsistent, in the PJR 

Order, the district court correctly dispensed with the argument that NRS 

278.349(3)(e) would require the City to approve the 35-Acre Applications:  

The Court rejects the Developer’s contention that NRS 278.349(3)(e) 
abolishes the Council’s discretion to deny land use applications. 
 
First, NRS 278.349(3) merely provides that the governing body “shall 
consider” a list of factors when deciding whether to approve a tentative 
map. Subsection (e) upon which the Developer relies, however, is only 
one factor.  
 
In addition, NRS 278.349(3)(e) relates only to tentative map 
applications, and the Applications at issue here also sought a waiver of 
the City’s development standards, a General Plan Amendment to 
change the PR-OS designation and a Site Development Plan review. A 
tentative map is a mechanism by which a landowner may divide a 
parcel of land into five or more parcels for transfer or development; 
approval of a map alone does not grant development rights. NRS 
278.019; NRS 278.320. 
 
Finally, NRS 278.349(e) does not confer any vested rights. 
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[M]unicipal entities must adopt zoning regulations that are in 
substantial agreement with the master plan.” See Am. W. Dev., 111 Nev. 
at 807, 898 P.2d at 112, quoting Nova Horizon, 105 Nev. at 96, 769 
P.2d at 723; NRS 278.250(2). 
 
The City’s Unified Development Code states as follows: 
 

Compliance with General Plan 
Except as otherwise authorized by this Title, approval of all [land 
use entitlements] shall be consistent with the spirit and intent of 
the General Plan. UDC 19.16.010(A). 
 
It is the intent of the City Council that all regulatory decisions 
made pursuant to this Title be consistent with the General Plan. 
For purposes of this Section, “consistency with the General Plan” 
means not only consistency with the Plan’s land use and density 
designations, but also consistency with all policies and programs 
of the General Plan, including those that promote compatibility 
of uses and densities, and orderly development consistent with 
available resources. UDC 19.00.040. 

 
Consistent with this law, the City properly required that the Developer 
obtain approval of a General Plan Amendment in order to proceed with 
any development. 

1(224-25).  

 The “land use hierarchy” in the General Plan does not subordinate the General 

Plan to zoning. AB 76. The General Plan states the polar opposite:   

Zoning is the major implementation tool of the Master Plan. The use of 
land as well as the intensity, height, setbacks, and associated parking 
needs of a development are regulated by zoning district requirements. 
Each Master Plan designation has specific zoning categories that are 
compatible, and any zoning or rezoning request must be in substantial 
agreement with the Master Plan as required by Nevada Revised 
Statutes 278.250 and Title 19.00 of the Las Vegas Municipal Code. 
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79(13789) (emphasis added). The pyramid to which the Developer refers shows the 

General Plan at the base, and zoning at the tip, meaning that zoning is inferior to and 

implements the General Plan. 79(13788).  

4. The Developer’s Claim That The City Failed To Comply With 
Required Procedures In Adopting Ordinances Designating The 
Badlands PR-OS Is Time-Barred And Without Evidentiary 
Support  

 The Developer’s collateral attack on the PR-OS designation on the basis that 

purportedly “[t]here is no evidence” that the City complied with the proper 

procedures for adopting it must be rejected on multiple grounds. AB 77-80, n.34; 

see also AB 18-19. The City designated the Badlands PR-OS in at least five 

ordinances between 1992 and 2018. 58(10200-10253, 10287-10301, 10302-10312, 

10313-10329, 10330-10345). The statute of limitations to challenge the validity of 

those ordinances was 25 days. NRS 278.0235; League to Save Lake Tahoe v. Tahoe 

Reg’l Planning Agency, 93 Nev. 270, 275, 563 P.2d 582, 585 (1977), overruled on 

other grounds by Cty. of Clark v. Doumani, 114 Nev. 46, 952 P.2d 113 (1998). 

Because neither Peccole nor the Developer timely filed any such challenge, the issue 

is waived. See NRS 278.0235. 

Even if deemed timely, the Developer’s attempt to flip the burden to the City 

to show that these ordinances were validly adopted is contrary to law. “Statutes are 
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presumed valid, and the challenger bears the burden of showing that a statute is 

unconstitutional.” Flamingo Paradise Gaming, LLC v. Chanos, 125 Nev. 502, 509, 

217 P.3d 546, 551 (2009). As the party challenging their validity, the Developer has 

the burden to submit evidence showing that the ordinances are invalid, which it

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